
Jnofflclal FERC-Generated PDF of 20040802-0108 Issued by FERC OSEC 08/02/2004 in Docket#: IN04-2-000 

108 FERC¶ 61,110 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION 

Before Commissioners: Pat Wood, III, Chairman; 
Nora Mead Brownell, Joseph T. Kelliher, 
and Suedeen G. Kelly. 

Dominion Resources, Inc.; 
Dominion Transmission, Inc.; 
Dominion Energy Clearinghouse; 
Northern Illinois Gas Company; and 
Columbia Gas Transmission Corporation 

Docket No. IN04-2-000 

ORDER APPROVING STIPULATION AND CONSENT AGREEMENTS 

(Issued August 2, 2004) 

1. The Division of Enforcement, Office of Market Oversight and Investigations 
(Enforcement) executed three Stipulation and Consent Agreements (Agreements), one 
each with the following entities: (1) Dominion Resources, Inc. (Dominion Resource) 
Dominion Transmission, Inc. (DTI) and Dominion Energy Clearinghouse (DEC); 
(2) Northern Illinois Gas Company (Nicor); and (3) Columbia Gas Transmission 
Corporation (Columbia). The Agreements were executed following a formal, non-public 
investigation involving the named entities. I The Agreements resolve issues relating to 
unauthorized communication of non-public natural gas storage inventory information by 
companies subject to the Commission's jurisdiction. The Agreements are in the public 
interest because they settle issues and provide appropriate relief. We therefore approve 
them. 

2. The Agreements disclose that ~nploy~s of interstate natural gas pipeline 
companies DTI and Columbia, and Nicor, a local distribution company (LDC) that has a 
blanket certificate pursuant to subpart C of Part 284 of the Commission's rvgulations, 
communicated their respective companies' actual storage injection or withdrawal 
volumes ovvr extended periods of I~ne. DTI communicated this information to an 
affiliated risk group employee, who in turn communicated it to a Dominion Resources 
gas trader, who in turn communicated it to industry participants outside of Dominion. 
Nicor and Columbia communicated this information to certain customers. None of the 
storage inventory information was public at the time it was communicatecL 

• 1 S e e  18 C.F.R. Part lb (2004). 
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3. Transportation of natural gas in interstate commerce includes storage, z By 
communicating non-public storage inventory information from DTI, the interstate 
pipeline, to DEC, its marketing affiliate, DTI and Dominion Resources, according to the 
Agreement the entities executed, violated Standard F of the Commission's standards of 
conduct requirements. Standard F states that, to the extent a natural gas pipeline provides 
to a marketing affiliate information related to transportation of natural gas, it must 
provide that information contemporaneously to all potential shippers, affiliated and non- 
affiliated, on its system: Nicor's communication of storage information to a certain 
customer constituted an undue preference that, according to the Agreement Nicor 
executed, violated the Commission's regulations. 4 The Agreement with Columbia also 
settles its communication of storage information to ce~'m customers. 

4. The investigation in this docket has revealed that a number of market participants 
have sought to obtain and exploit non-public storage inventory information to gain a 
competitive advantage in wholesale gas markets. Most or all of the natural gas traders 
and other natural gas industry participants that received the non-public storage inventory 
information from Dominion Resources, Nicor and Columbia apparently valued it because 
they believed it provided insight with respect to one or more of the following: (a) 
NYMEX natural gas contract futures prices immediately following the Thursday 10:30 
a.m. Eastern Time release by the United States Department of Energy's Energy 
Information Administration (EIA) of its Weekly Natural Gas Storage Report; Co) off- 
exchange traded natural gas-based instruments; (c) fluctuating price differentials between 
major receipt and delivery points; (d) general market conditions; (e) the value of storage 
as a price hedging mechanism; or (1') pipeline operations affecting transtxntation or 
storage of  gas. 

2 18 C.F.R. § 284.1(a) (2004). 

a 18 C.F.R. § 161.3(0 (2003). In November 2003, the Commission issued Order 
No. 2004, which supersedes the provisions of Part 161 of the Commission's regulations 
that the Dominion entities violated. Standards of Conduct for Transmission Providers, 
Order No. 2004, FERC Stats. & Rcgs., Regulations Preambles ¶ 31,155 (2003), order on 
reh 9, Order No. 2004-A, 107 FERC ¶ 61,032 (2004), reh 'gpending. In Order No. 2004, 
the Commission adopted standards of conduct that apply uniformly to interstate natural 
gas pipelines and public utilities. The Commission codified these standards of conduct in 
Part 385 of the Commission's regulations and revised Part 161 of its regulations. The 
Commission included section 358.5CO), 18 C.F.R. § 385.5CO) (2004), which is comparable 
to the former Standard F. The provisions of Part 161 apply to the conduct of the 
Dominion entities because that conduct predates the issuance of Order No. 2004. 

4 18 C.F.R. §§ 284.9(b) and 289.7('o)(1) (2004). 
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5. The Commission has a continuing duty to maintain the integrity of jurisdictional 
natural gas sales markets, s The Commission will vigilantly exercise oversight of 
pipelines' standards of conduct compliance and activities that provide transportation- 
related advantages to some but not all pipeline customers. 

The Agreements 

Dominion Resources, DTI and DEC (The Dominion entities) 

6. The Agreement with the Dominion entities provides for refunds to DTI's storage 
customers in the amount of $4,500,000 in proportion to each customer's share of the total 
firm storage reservation revenues received by DTI applicable to services rendered in 
2002. As explained in the Agreement, the maximum trading benefit that Dominion 
Resources could reasonably have derived from the wrongful communication of storage 
inventory information from DTI to the Dominion gas trader was approximately 
$4,900,000. While it may be unlikely that more than 90 percent of all relevant trading 
profits earned by Dominion Resources during the affected period could be attributed to 
the wrongful communication of transportation-related information to DTI's marketing 
affiliate that occurred, the Agreement reflects the Commission's determination that 
Dominion Resources not profit from its standard of conduct violation. 

7. The Dominion entities further agree to pay a civil penalty in the amount of 
$500,000. The civil penalty is warranted by the severity of the Dominion entities' 
conduct. As explained in the Agreement, the risk group employee received DTI's storage 
inventory information by e-mall. The risk group employee previously worked for DTI 
but his name was not removed fzom the distribution list after he left DTI. DTI should 
have purged the risk group employee's name from the distribution list promptly after his 
employment with DTI ended. The risk group employee should not have communicated 
the storage inventory information that he received from DTI to the Dominion gas trader. 
The Dominion gas trader should not have communicated this information to other 
industry participants. In approving the size of the civil penalty, the Commission has also 
considered that the Dominion entities voluntarily brought the violation to the attention of 
Enforcement. 

SE.g., In the Matter of  Amendments to Blanket Sales Certificates, 107 FERC 
¶ 61,174 at P 11 (2004) Cl'he Commission's "responsibility to ensure the integrity of the 
jurisdictional gas sales market requ'Lred it to revise its regulations to place additional 
conditions on its grant of market based sales certificates[,]" citing, Order No. 644, 
Amendments to Blanket Sales Certificates, FERC Stats. & Regs., Regulations Preambles 
¶ 31,153 (November 17, 2003). 
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8. The Dominion entities also agree to extensive employee training intended to deter 
future similar violations. The substantive material incorporated in the Agreement 
indicates the subject matter of instruction that the Dominion entities will provide its 
employees. This information includes instruction on the Commission's standards of 
conduct, why the conduct recited in the Agreement was wrongful, and detailed elements 
of Order No. 2004. 

9. Since July 29, 2003, Dominion has posted its weekly net injection and withdrawal 
activity on Mondays, the same day oftbe week that it reports its storage inventory 
information to EIA. Because sunshine is the best disinfectant, this measure should go far 
in deterring future similar violations. 

Nicor 

10. The Agreement with Nicor provides for Nicor to pay a civil penalty of $600,000. 
This penalty is warranted because selective disclosure of Nicor's storage inventory 
information could have provided an operational advantage to the favored customer. If 
Nicor intended to share its storage inventory information, it should have shared it with all 
its customers. Nicor states in the Agreement that the penalty will not affect retail rates or 
service. 

11. The Agreement does not require Nicor to post its storage inventory information. 
As an local distribution company, Nicor has gas purchase obligations to meet retail 
demand that differ from interstate pipelines that provide service pursuant to subparts B 
and G of part 284 of the Commission's regulations. These obligations could potentially 
be affected by posting of actual daily injection and withdrawal volumes. Because the 
Commission has not explored whether, and if so, the extent to which, Nicor's gas 
purchase obligations may be affected by posting its storage inventory information, we are 
approving the Agreement without a posting provision. 

12.. Lastly, Nicor agrees to conduct extensive annual, onsite training to provide 
guidance to its employees regarding compliance with the Commission's requirements. 
Nicor further-agrees to modify its corporate policies to specifically prolu%it the disclosure. 
of its storage inventory information to parties outside Nicor. 

Columbia 

13. The Agreement with Columbia provides for Columbia to pay a civil penalty of 
$2,500,000. The Agreement recites that Columbia did not profit from the disclosures of 
its non-public storage inventory information. It appears from the Agreement that 
Columbia should have better supervised the dissemination of its daily injection and 
withdrawal information, given the apparent operational and market-related value of this 



Jnofflclal FERC-Generated PDF of 20040802-0108 Issued by FERC OSEC 08/02/2004 in Docket#: IN04-2-000 

Docket No. IN04-2-000 - 5 - 

information. The prolonged and persistent nature of the communications weakened the 
desired practices that commodity trading be based on public information and that all 
pipeline customers be apprised of transportation-related information equally. 

14. The Agreement contains two measures meant to deter future similar activity. 
Columbia agrees to post each Monday its net aggregate injection and withdrawal volumes 
for the previous week. In addition, Columbia agrees to automatically record for one year 
all telephone conversations between its customer service representatives and customers, 
and will retain these recordings for an additional year. As the Agreement recites, it was a 
Columbia customer service representative who communicated Columbia's non-public 
storage inventory information to selected customers. 

Related Matters 

15. The Commission directs its staff to terminate the investigation with respect the 
following three entities that are named in one or more of the Agreements: (1) Alliance for 
Cooperative Energy Services Power Marketing LLC; (2) Interstate Gas Supply, Inc.; and 
(3) Sequent Energy Management, LP. These firms provided information to Enforcement 
that materially advanced the investigation. The Commission has not concluded that these 
firms violated the Commission's regulations with respect to their conduct referenced in 
any of the Agreements. 

16. The acuteness of interest in non-public storage inventory information evinced by 
the investigation in this docket, the apparently widespread nature of industry activity that 
is focused on storage inventories, and the bearing that storage inventories appear to have 
on commodity markets and pipeline operations counsel in favor of more complete, 
consistent and comprehensible posting by pipeline companies of their storage inventories 
than the Commission currently requires. On this date the Commission is issuing notice of 
a technical conference to explore issues related to achieving greater transparency in 
storage inventory information. The technical conference will provide an opportunity for 
interested persons to provide information and opinions regarding the costs and benefits of 
improved posting of storage inventory information. 

Conclusi0~ 

17. The Commission finds that the Agreements with the Dominion entities, Nicer and 
Columbia arc fair and reasonable and in the public interest. They resolve issues and 
provide for remedies that address the conduc~ described in the respective Agreements. 
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The Commission orders: 

(A) The Commission approves the attached Stipulation and Consent 
Agreements without modification. 

(B) The Commission's approval of the Agreements does not constitute 
precedent regarding any principle or issue in any proceeding. 

By the Commission. 

( S E A L )  

Acting Secretary. 

- 6 -  
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Stipulation and Consent Agreement 
To Be Submitted To 

The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 

I o  

The Enforcement Division of the Office of Market Oversight and Investigations 

(Enforcemen0, Dominion Resources, Inc. (Dominion Resources), Dominion 

Transmission, Inc. (DTI) and Dominion Energy Clearinghouse (DEC) enter into this 

Stipulation and Consent Agreement (Agreement). The Agreement resolves all issues that 

are specifically addressed herein pertaining to liability or potential liability of Dominion 

Resources, DTI and DEC arising from a non-public investigation (investigation) that 

Enforcement conducted pursuant to Part Ib of the Commission's regulations, 18 C.F.R. 

Part lb (2003). 

II. 

Enforcement, Dominion Resources, DTI and DEC hereby stipulate and agree to 

the following: 

A. Dominion Resources is a large, integrated energy company. Through its 

subsidiaries and affiliates, Dominion Resources transmits and distributes electricity to 

approximately 2.1 million customers and natural gas to approximately 1.7 million 

customers in five states; it manages power plants with approximately 24,000 megawatts 

of capacity; it trades and markets gas and electric power nationwide; it owns and/or 

operates 7,900 miles of natural gas pipelines and 14 natural gas storage fields having a 

total working gas capacity of approximately 400 billion cubic feet and maximum daily 

~6DC - i ~  - 191/ | I  I v l  
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deliverability of approximately seven to eight billion cubic feet; and it operates 

approximately 12 percent of total working gas storage capacity in the United States. 

Three separate entities within Dominion Resources' corporate structure are involved in 

events giving rise to the Agreement. First is DTI, based in Clarksburg, West Virginia. 

DTI is an interstate natural gas pipeline company that performs transportation functions 

including functions related to all of Dominion Resources' storage facilities that are 

subject to the Commission's jurisdiction under the Natural Gas Act. Second is Dominion 

Resources Services, Inc. (DRS), based in Richmond, Virginia. DRS contains the 

Enterprise Risk Management Group (risk group), an entity that, among other things, 

analyzes and assesses trading risk. Third is DEC, also based in Richmond. DEC is 

Dominion Resources' energy trading and marketing operation (marketing affiliate; or, 

trading and marketing group). 

B. Every Thursday at 10:30 a`m. Eastern Time, the United States Depar~ent 

of Energy's Energy Information Administration (EIA) releases its Weekly Natural Gas 

Storage Report, which tracks natural gas inventories held in underground storage 

facilities in the United States. The weekly inventory levels are estimates of the aggregate 

volumes of working gas as of the week ending the Friday immediately preceding the 

Thursday release of the report. Changes in reported inventory levels reflect events 

affecting working gas in storage for the surveyed companies, including injections, 

withdrawals, and reclassifications between base and working gas. According to the 
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EIA's website, the EIA's overall approach is to collect weekly survey data from a 

sample of operators of underground storage facilities and to prepare regional and national 

estimates based on thc relationship between the weekly sample and the larger univcrse of 

storage operators reporting to the EtA on an existing monthly survey of the same 

population. The EtA issues its report using regional and national categories. The EtA's 

Thursday release of its storage inventory report often has an immediate impact on the 

price of NYMEX futures gas contracts as indicated by the shift in price that is usually 

observed immediately following the ELA's I0:30 a.m. relcase of its report on Thursdays. 

The release of the EIA report also affects other natural gas commodity price, 

transportation, transactional, market and trading behavior because ofthe important role 

the EtA report plays in the assessment of commodity inventories. A number of 

organizations publish advance estimates of the EIA's weekly report results. 

C. Since May 2, 2002, when the EtA assumed responsibility for reporting 

storage inventory information, DTI has provided weekly storage inventory information to 

the EtA as of 9:00 a.m. Friday each week, as prescribed by the EtA. (Prior to May 2, 

2002, DTI, and its predecessor in interest, CNG Transmission Company, provided 

weekly storage inventory information on Fridays to the American Gas Association 

(AGA).. The AGA published a report of storage inventory levels each week on 

Wednesday aRernoons.) DTI is one of approximately 45 entities that provide weekly 

storage inventory information to the EtA. DTI provides its weekly storage inventory 

~ - 6 . 1J i l L?~e4~ .  l l ir~l~ I | I v |  
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information to the EtA as follows: A DT[ employee distributes by e-mail the figure 

representing DTI's storage inventory levels on a weekly basis to a second DTI employee, 

with copies to other employees and agents of DTI. The DTI figure includes the total 

inventory levels for all facilities operated by DTI, including several facilities that are 

jointly owned with third-party companies. The second DTI employee adds storage 

inventory levels received from Dominion gesourees-affiliated local distribution 

companies to the DTI figure and, on the following Monday, e-mails the sum of those 

figures to the EtA, with copies to certain other DTI employees. Prior to July 29, 2003, 

this information was not publicly available. Since that date, DTI has posted on the 

Monday, when the data is provided to the EtA, the DTI storage inventory data that are 

included in the figure it sends to the EtA, except that, for the jointly owned storage 

facilities, the posting includes only the portion of inventory equivalent to DTI's 

ownership interest in the facilities (i.e., the storage inventory attributable to third-party 

ownership is not reflected on DTI's website). Thus, DTI posts complete inventory data 

for the ten storage pools that it owns and operates and posts the inventory for its 

ownership share of the additional seven pools that it operates but does not wholly own. 

D. A certain Risk Group Employee was, prior to May 2000, an employee of 

DTI and its predecessor company, CNG Transmission Corporation. While a DTI 

employee, he was on the copy list to receive copies of storage inventory information that 

DTI sent to the AGA. In May 2000, the Risk Group Employee left the employ of DT[ 



Jnofflclal FERC-Generated PDF of 20040802-0108 Issued by FERC OSEC 08/02/2004 in Docket#: IN04-2-000 

Stipulation and Consent Agreement - 5 - 
Dominion Resources, Inc., Dominion Energy Clearinghouse, and Dominion 
Transmission, Inc. 

and became employed by the risk group at DRS as a Senior Risk Management Analyst. 

In his new position, the Risk Group Employee quantified the market risks associated with 

certain energy transactions. The risk group also provides credit and contract 

administration and is responsible for helping to assure the compliance of certain 

Dominion Resources entities and affiliates with Dominion's trading policies and 

limitations. At the time relevant to this inquiry, the risk management group reported to 

Dominion Resources' Treasury DeparUnent. Due to DTI's lack of sufficient oversight of 

the e-mail distribution list and the advice of local outside counsel as described in Section 

II.E. below, the Risk Group Employee remained on the copy list of the e-mail containing 

the non-public DTI storage inventory data (hereafter the weekly non-public DTI storage 

inventory number, or DTI number) that DTI sent weekly to the AGA, and effective May 

2, 2002, to the EIA. On several occasions, at least one of which occurred in May 2003, 

the Risk Group Employee was for an unknown reason not copied with the weekly non- 

public DTI storage inventory number. On these occasions, the Risk Group Employee 

asked a particular DTI employee for it. The DTI employee, who knew that the Risk 

Group Employee was no longer employed by DTI, provided the requested information on 

these occasions. In addition, the Risk Group Employee continued to receive a Storage 

Fill report, or ratchet report, which contained various categories of storage customer- 

specific contract capacity and contract demand information, for a period of less than two 

months after he left the employ of DTI. 

~ q ~  ° ~ - 1 Y / 2 1 1  ! vJ  
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E. Shortly after the Risk Group Employee transferred from DTI to the risk 

management group, a local outside counsel orally approved the risk group Employee's 

rex, eipt of the weekly non-public DTI storage inventory number from DTI. In addition to 

this approval, the local outside counsel addressed in writing whether the Risk Group 

Employee could receive the Storage Fill r~ort. Specifically, in July 15, 2000, a DTI 

employee asked the local outside counsel for Dominion Resources whether it was 

permissible for the Risk Group Employee to continue to receive the Storage Fill rel~rt. 

The person making this request noted that "[t]his information would be quite valuable to 

a marketer." Local outside counsel responded in pertinent part that "this information 

should not be shared with our gas marketing and power marketing affiliates which are 

posted on our web page. My understanding is that [the Risk Group Employee] works for 

the Services Company [DRS], not a marketer, and his having the information would not 

violate [FERC Order No.] 497 so long as the information was not shared with our 

marketing affiliates." 

F. Certain employees in DRS knew that the Risk Group Employee was 

receiving the weekly non-public DTI storage inventory number. Specifically, in June 

2003, the Risk Group Employee told three employees of DRS' Business Planning and 

Marketing Development division that he was receiving the DTI number. Nonetheless, 

the Risk Group Employee's supervisors were unaware that the Risk Group Employee was 

receiving the DTI number as a risk group employee until July 17, 2003, when they 
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discovered it during a supervisory review of the Risk Group Employee's work. On 

Monday, July 2 l, 2003, the Vice President of the risk group directed the Risk Group 

Employee not to receive the weekly non-public DTI storage inventory number from DTI 

any longer. 

G. Beginning when he was employed by DTI and continuing after May 2000, 

the Risk Group Employee routinely produced on Monday morning a projection of the 

weekly regional and national storage inventory numbers that the AGA and, subsequently, 

the EIA would release later in the same week. The Risk Group Employee used the 

weekly non-public DTI storage inventory number to construct his projection. This 

number was one of 24 inputs in the model that the Risk Group Employee used. Starting 

in May 2000, he improperly communicated his projection to many employees in the 

trad'mg and marketing group. His communication of his projection to some employees in 

the trading and marketing group was improper because his projection was based in part 

on the DTI number. Over the period from May 2000 to July 2003, the Risk Group 

Employee communicated his projection to a total of 39 Dominion Resources employees, 

including, in addition to DTI employees in the Irading and marketing group, affiliated 

traders and marketers in Calgary, Alberta; DTI employees; other DRS employees, 

including risk group employees; Dominion Field Services employees in Pennsylvania and 

West Virginia; and an affiliated telecommunications employee. The accuracy of the Risk 

Group Employee's forecast was comparable to commercially available forecasts. Many 

~IIDC. I~II0)IIIIII. I~III)I vl 
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employees in the trading and marketing group reviewed the Risk Group Employee's 

projection. None of the recipients of the Risk Group Employee's projection of the EIA 

report knew how the projection was derived or that the Risk Group F~mployee used the 

weekly non-public DTI storage inventory number as an input in his model. The Risk 

Group Employee worked in the same building as the trading and marketing group 

employees. The Risk Group Employee had frequent and routine contacts with these 

employees. 

H. On July 17, 2003, the Risk Group Employee's supervisors also discovered 

that since January 2001, the Risk Group Employee had been providing on a regular basis 

the weekly non-public DTI storage inventory number to a natural gas trader in the trading 

and marketing group (Dominion Gas Trader). That same day, the Vice President of the 

risk group directed the Risk Group Employee to stop providing the weekly non-public 

DTI storage inventory number to the Dominion Gas Trader. Prior to that directive, the 

Risk Group Employee provided the DTI number to the Dominion Gas Trader by e-mail 

nearly every week from January 2001 to July 2003. The Dominion Gas Trader, who had 

joined DEC in December 2000, during this two-and-a-half year period had a senior 

position on the Mid-Continent trading desk for DEC. On occasions when ~e Risk Group 

Employee did not provide the DTI number to the Dominion Gas Trader, the Dominion 

Gas Trader specifically requested it from the Risk Group Employee, who then provided 

it. The Risk Group Employee provided the DTI number to the Dominion Gas Trader 
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because he believed that the Dominion Gas Trader was a manager who demanded the 

number and that it was his responsibility to comply. The Risk Group Employee did not 

profit by providing the DTI number to the Dominion Gas Trader. The Risk Group 

Employee did not provide the DTI number to anyone else at any time. ARer the Risk 

Group Employee lei'c the employ of DTI in May 2000, he did not provide the Storage Fill 

report to any person and he did not use it for any purpose. The Risk Group Employee 

ceased receiving the Storage Fill report in July 2000. The Dominion Gas Trader told 

Enforcement that he did not know where the Risk Group Employee obtained the DTI 

number. The Dominion Gas Trader also obtained the weekly public Natural Gas Pipeline 

Company of America storage inventory number from a DEC scheduler and the weekly 

public ANR Storage Company storage inventory number fi'om ANR Storage Company's 

website. 

I. The Dominion Gas Trader believed that knowing the weekly non-public 

DTI storage inventory number improved his perception of market conditions, improved 

his understanding of wbere the price of gas might be heading, improved his ability to 

transact basis spreads, and improved his ability to better understand the future price and 

availability of storage. The Dominion Gas Trader executed 243 weekly NYMEX gas 

futures positions in 2002. The Dominion Gas Trader told Enforcement that the DTI 

number would provide little advantage in trading on the NYMEX gas futures exchange or 

on any other exchange or market because (a) the direction of trading activity immediately 

. ~ .  IVZI! tl vl 
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following disclosure of the EIA's report at 10:30 a.m. on Thursdays is unpredictable; and 

(b) the market is relatively illiquid at that time, which raises the cost of exiting 

unprofitable positions. The Dominion Gas Trader did not conduct any transactions on a 

personal account to exploit his receipt of the DTI number. On July 21, 2003, a superior 

employee told the Dominion Gas Trader that he could no longer receive the DTI number 

from the Risk Group Employee. The Dominion Gas Trader regularly disclosed the 

weekly non-public DTI storage inventory number to other employees in the trading and 

marketing group. The Wading benefit of having the DTI number expires once the storage 

report is released. No employee in the Wading and marketing group executed transactions 

on the NYMEX futures gas exchange or on any other exchange or market, or executed 

any bilateral agreements, to exploit his or her receipt of the Risk Group Employee's 

projection of the EIA report or the DTI number by exiting positions immediately 

following the weekly release of the EIA report, or immediately following the weekly 

release of the AGA report prior to May 2, 2002. 

J. The Don~nioo Gas Trader disclosed the weekly non-public DTI storage 

inventory number to two non-affiliated persons in the natural gas industry. The first of 

these is the Director of Natural Gas Trading employed by Alliance for Cooperative 

Energy Services Power Marketing LLC, also known as ACES Power Marketing (APM). 

APM does not own any natural gas storage or pipeline facilities. Enforcement has 

determined that: the APM employee to whom the Dominion Gas Trader provided the 

"J~DC - 6 , , q l J l ~ 1 4 4 . 1 9 1 ~  I I I v l  
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weekly non-public DTI storage inventory number has responsibility for developing 

customized natural gas strategies; negotiating with pipelines, suppliers and marketing 

companies; reviewing and recommending price clauses; assisting with the coordination 

and implementation of customers' daily energy supply optimization strategies; executing 

Iransactions as an agent of APM's customers; providing forward market data from the 

NYMEX, brokers and electronic trading platforms; producing market outlook reports; 

and providing training in natural gas fundamentals and hedging strategies. The 

Dominion Gas Trader began providing the DTI number on a frequent basis to the APM 

employee in July 2002. The APM employee provided the Dominion Gas Trader the 

weekly non-public storage inventory information of Columbia Gas Transmission 

Company (Columbia) in return. The Dominion Gas Trader stopped providing the DTI 

number to the APM employee in late July 2003. 

K. The Dominion Gas Trader also disclosed the weekly non-public DTI 

storage inventory number to a storage trader who works at Nicer Enerchange, LLC 

(Nicer Enerehange), a subsidiary of Nicer, Inc. Nicer Enerchange is a natural gas 

marketer engaged primarily in the wholesale trading business. Nicer Enerchange's 

trading activities take place primarily in the Wisconsin/Illinois/Indiana area, as well as in 

the production area. Enforcement has determined that: the Nicer Enerchange trader 

negotiates transactions with customers of the Chicago Hub, which provides storage and 

transportation services; he documents such transactions; handles elements of scheduling 

. ~ .  I g E I 1 1 1  v l  
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and billing for contract services; and provides marketing and administrative support to 

the operations of the Chicago Hub. According to the Nicor Enerchange trader, the 

Dominion Gas Trader began providing the DTI number to the Nicor Enerchange trader 

about the time the Dominion Gas Trader joined Dominion (i.e., December 2000). The 

Nicor Enerchange trader provided the Dominion Gas Trader the weekly non-public Nicor 

storage inventory number. The Dominion Gas Trader stopped providing the DTI number 

to the Nicor Enerchange storage trader in late July 2003. 

L. Enforcement has also determined that the Dominion Gas Trader knew, or 

should have known, that the weekly non-public storage inventory numbers he received 

from the APM and Nicor Enerchange traders were non-public. Other than the APM 

employee and the Nicor Enerchange trader, the Dominion Gas Trader did not provide the 

weekly non-pablic DTI storage number to any other person not employed by Dominion 

Resources or an affiliate thereof. 

M. In response to the events recited in this section of the Agreement, DRS 

reassigned the Risk Group Employee to a position in which he has access only to public 

data. DEC suspended the Dominion Gas Trader with pay for two weeks, then reinstated 

and demoted him. In addition, Dominion Resources voluntarily disclosed these events to 

Enforcement in July 2003, virtually contemporaneously with the discovery by the 

company. Dominion Resources fully and completely cooperated with Enforcement's 

efforts to investigate and resolve this matter. 
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N. Enforcement has concluded that the weekly non-public DTI storage 

inventory number was significant in creating a best prediction model given the set of data 

that the Risk Group Employee used to create his projection of  the AGA and EIA storage 

inventory numbers. While the inclusion of the DTI number changed the average 

accuracy of  the model results little compared to model results achieved when the DTI 

number is excluded, Enforcement has also concluded that the inclusion of  the DTI 

number resulted in a projection with significantly lower prediction variance than a 

projection without the DTI number. Moreover, the DTI number was valuable in its raw 

form to the Dominion Gas Trader as a means to better assess market conditions. The DTI 

number was also valuable because the Dominion Gas Trader was able to trade it to obtain 

other non-public storage inventory dam. 

O. Having the Risk Group Employee's projection of  the EIA number and/or 

the weekly non-public DTI storage inventory number provided information that gave the 

trading and marketing group employees an opportunity to exploit market movement 

during the days prior to the Thursday (EIA) or Wednesday (AGA) storage report release. 

Multiple strategies could be devised to use this information to exploit market movement. 

This information had a qualitative benefit for trading and marketing group employees that 

may be impossible to quantify. Nonetheless, Dominion Resources attempted to estimate 

the potential benefit that the trading and marketing group could have derived had its 

employees sought to trade on this information. Dominion Resources examined positions 
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in the trading and marketing group portfolio pertaining to those employees who received 

this information. Dominion Resources isolated positions opened on a Monday, Tuesday, 

Wednesday, or Thursday, and dosed on Thursday for the period from May 2, 2002 

through July 21, 2003 (during which period the EIA has released its report on Thursday), 

and positions opened on a Monday, Tuesday or Wednesday and dosed on Wednesday for 

the period January 1, 2001 through May 1, 2002 (during which period the AGA released 

its report on Wednesday aRernoon). Dominion Resources further isolated trades 

involving the products most likely to be used to exploit this information. These products 

would be those with sensitivity to fixed price volatility, those having sufficient liquidity 

to permit the entry and exit of positions at will, and those that would present a negligible 

or manageable credit exposure when executed. Three categories of products fit these 

parameters: 

(1) Futures .(standardized contracts for the purchase or sale of a cornmodity that is 

traded for future delivery under the provisions of exchange regulations); 

(2) Options on futures and equivalents (entailing the fight, but not the obligation, 

to buy or sell a specified futures contract at a defined strike price); and 

(3) Swaps (cuatom-tailored, individually negotiated Iransactions designed to 

manage risk in which parties typically exchange payments based on changes in the price 

of a commodity or market index, while fixing the price they effectively pay for the 

physical commodity). 
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These products are the most likely products used to exploit the information that the 

trading and marketing group employees received. Applying the timing limitations 

described above to trades involving the products mentioned above for the trading and 

marketing group employees who received the Risk Group Employee's projection and/or 

the DTI number during the relevant period yields a sum of portfolio positions equal to 

approximately $4.9 million. Of this sum, the Dominion Gas Trader's trades had a value 

of $363,479. The $4.9 million value assumes that all incremental activity and all of the 

realized value associated with this sum oecurred and were obtained as a result of the 

relevant trading and marketing group employees having received the Risk Group 

Employee's projection of the EIA number and/or the DTI number. It is highly 

improbable that one hundred percent of the outcomes from all individuals included could 

be attributed to access to the Risk Group Employee's projection of the EIA report and/or 

the DTI number. 

P. Unrelated to the foregoing matters, DTI failed, until November 6, 2003, to 

file four semi-annual storage reports, for the period beginning April 2001 and ending 

March 2003, as required by Section 284.13(e) of the Commission's regulations. 

III. 

A. Dominion Resources, DTI and DEC admit that: 

1. The Risk Group Employee was a non-operating employee, as the 

Commission defined that term in Order No. 497-E, because his work was supportive in 

Vb~3C. 6 . M ~ q 0 4 6 . 1 9 / ~ J l !  v !  
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nature and he was not engaged in any daily transportation operations; and 

2. The Risk Group Employee served as an improper conduit of 

transmission information by distributing his projection of the weekly EIA report and 

AGA report, which projection was based in part on the weekly non-public DTI storage 

inventory number, to trading and marketing group employees, and by providing the DTI 

number to the Dominion Gas Trader. 

B. Dominion Resources, DTI and DEC admit that by virtue of the Risk Group 

Employee distributing his projection of the weekly EIA report and AGA report to trading 

and marketing group employees and by providing the DTI number to the Dominion Gas 

Trader, without contemporaneously providing the same information to all potential 

shippers on its system, DTI violated section 161.3(0 of the Commission's regulations, 18 

C.F.IL § 161.3(0 (2003). 
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IV. 

A. Dominion Resources shall refund to the customers and in the amounts 

identified in Appendix A to the Agreement the sum of $4,500,000. Dominion Resources 

shall disburse the refunds to customers in the amounts and in the manner indicated in 

Appendix A. Within thirty days after the date that the Commission approves the 

Agreement without modification, and that approval becomes final, Dominion Resources 

shall, in the docket in which the Commission approves the Agreement, file a certification 

stating that the refunds described in the paragraph have been made. 

B. The method used to prepare Appendix A is as follows. DTI has allocated 

the total refund of $4,500,000 among its non-affiliated firm storage service customers in 

proportion to each customer's share of  the total firm storage reservation revenues 

(Demand and Capacity) received by DTI applicable to services rendered during 2002. 

The refund is to be paid to each customer by means of  a cash payment via cheek or wire 

transfer. Where a refund amount due to any customer is less than $100,000, DTI shall 

have the option to provide the amount by means of a credit to the customer's bill, which 

shall be separately identified as a refund attributable to implementation of  the Agreement. 

C. Dominion Resources shall pay to the United States Treasury a civil penalty 

in the sum of $500,000 by delivering a certified check made payable to Federal Energy 

Regulatory Commission, Lockbox 93938, Chicago, Illinois 60673. 

D. DTI and DEC shall comply with the prospective measures set forth in 
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Appendix B. DTI's failure to comply with these measures may result in enforcement of 

the terms of this Agreement by the FERC consistent with the Natural Gas Act, which 

may include suspending DEC's blanket marketing certificate under Subpart L of Part 284 

of  the Commission's regulations. 

E. DTI shall fully comply with the requirements of  18 C.F.R. § 284.13(e) 

(2003) in the timely filing of.the required semi-annual storage reports. DTI shall comply 

with the prospective measures set forth in Appendix C. 

V. 

A. Enforcement agrees that the Agreement is a full and complete settlement of 

all administrative or civil claims the Commission has or may have against Dominion 

Resources or DTI, or any of  their officers, directors or employees, either before the 

Commission or in the courts, relating only to the facts recited in Section II of  the 

Agreement. 

B. Enforcement, Dominion Resources, DEC and DTI agree that they enter into 

the Agreement voluntarily and that, other than the recitations set forth herein, no tender, 

offer or promise of  any kind by any member, employee, officer, director, agent or 

representative of  Enforcement, Dominion Resources, DEC or DTI has been made to 

induce any other party to enter into the Agreement. 

C. If the Commission does not issue an order which becomes final approving 

the Agreement, without modification, the Agreement shall be null and void, unless 
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otherwise agreed in writing by Enforcement, Dominion Resources, DEC and DTI. 

D. The undersigned representatives of Dominion Resources, DEC and DTI, 

respectively, affirm that they have each read the Agreement, that all of the matters set 

forth in the Agreement are true and correct to the best of their knowledge, information 

and belief, and that they understand that the Agreement is entered into by Enforcement in 

express reliance on those representations. 

E. The Agreement binds Dominion Resources, DEC and DTI and their agents, 

successors and assigns. 

F. In connection with the payment of the civil penalty provided for herein, 

Dominion Resources, DTI and DEC agree that the Commission's order approving the 

Agreement without modification shall be a final and unappealable order assessing a civil 

penalty under section 504 of the NGPA, 15 U.S.C. § 3414 (2000). With regard to such 

civil penalty, Dominion Resources, DTI and DEC waive: a Notice of Proposed Penalty 

under section 504(bX6)(E ) of the NGPA, 15 U.S.C. § 3414(bX6)(E) (2000); hearings 

pursuant to the applicable provisions of the NGPA; the filing of proposed findings of fact 

and conclusions of law; an Initial Decision by an Administrative Law Judge pursuant to 

the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure; post-hearing procedures pursuant to 

the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure; and judicial review by any court. 

G. Dominion Resources, DEC and DTi waive judicial review by any court of 

any Commission order approving the Agreement without modification. 
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H. Each of the undersigned warrants that he or she is an authorized 

representative of the entity designated, is authorized to bind such entity, and accepts the 

Agreement on the entity's behalf. 

I. The Appendices referenced in the Agreement and attached hereto are 

expressly made part of, and incorporated in, the Agreement. 

Agreed to and accepted: 

Enforcement Division, 
Office of Market Oversight and Investigations 

Dominion Resources, Inc. on behalf of itself 
and its energy marketing and trading operation 
known as the Dominion Energy Clearinghouse 

Vice President and Sccretary 
Dominion Transmission, Inc. 

Date 

I 
Date 
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APPENDIX B 

STANDARDS OF CONDUCT COMPLIANCE PLAN FOR DOMINION 
TRANSMISSION, INC. AND ITS ENERGY AFFILIATES 

This Standards of Conduct Compliance Plan (Compliance Plan) responds to 
specific issues and recommendations arising from a non-public investigation 
conducted by the Division of Enforcement, Office of Market Oversight and 
Investigations (OMOI). 

Dominion Transmission, Inc. (DTI), Dominion Energy Clearinghouse (DEC), 
and DTrs "Marketing Affiliates" and/or "Energy Affiliates" as that term is defined 
in 18 C.F.R. § 358.3 (hereinafter collectively referred to as Dominion) will 
implement the following policies and procedures to resolve issues that have arisen 
regarding compliance with the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission's 
(commission's) applicable statutes, rules, and regulations. 

This Compliance Plan applies to Dominion and to any successor companies 
owned or controlled by Dominion and will remain in effect for three years following 
the Effective Date of the Stipulation and Consent Agreement in Docket' Nos. IN04- 
2-000. (Agreement). This Compliance Plan is a part of the Commission's Order 
approving the Agreement. 

Dominion may request that the Commission modify this Compliance Plan 
during its three-year term. Nothing in this Compliance Plan relieves Dominion 
fi-om complying with the Commission's rules and regulations currently in effect and 
as they may be amended. 

I. Standards of Conduct Compliance Officer 

Dominion will designate an individual whose title will be "Chief Compliance 
Officer" (Compliance Officer). This individual and his or her staff, as 
appropriate, will be the contact for Commission staff for Dominion's 
Standards of Conduct compliance issues and will be responsible for 
implementing this Compliance Plan. 

H. Trainin  

A. Dominion will develop written material for Standards of Conduct training, 
consistent with Order No. 2004 and any subsequently issued orders of the 
Commission, and will utilize a computer based Learning Management 
System (LMS) to implement and track yearly Standards of Conduct training 
for "Gas-related Employees." The term "Gas-related Employees" means: (a) 
all DTI "transmission function" employees, including all officers and directors 
of DTI that engage in a transmission function, as defined in 18 C.F.R. § 
358.3, e t  seq., and related Commission pronouncements, and all officers and 

k%'~DC'63803.~46"lgO6121v2 
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C. 

directors of DTI who are shared employees; (b) all DTI Marketing Affiliate 
and/or Energy Affdiate employees who provide services related to 
contracting, scheduling, billing or gas control for natural gas transportation, 
sales, or purchases; and (e) all Dominion employees who provide risk 
management, Information Technology (IT), accounting, contract 
administration, billing, software development, or legal services related to the 
transportation or marketing of natural gas to both DTI and to one or more of 
its Marketing Affiliates and/or Energy Affiliates. The policy shall include 
appropriate disciplinary measures for employees who violate the policy. 

The training material shall be consistent with the requirements of Order No. 
2004, as it may be modified, as well as all other applicable Commission rules 
and regulations regarding the relationship between interstate pipelines and 
their affiliates. In addition, the training material shall include specific 
instruction regarding the procedures and mechanism designed to comply with 
the requirements of Sections III and IV of this Appendix B. Dominion's 
current version of the training material is attached as an Attachment to this 
Appendix. However, Dominion maintains the right to modify the training 
material to reflect changes in Commission policy or other relevant 
developments and to make non-material changes in the presentation of the 
policy, as long as the material continues to reflect the obligations of this 
Stipulation and generally applicable Commission rules. In addition, DTI may 
vary the scope of the materials related to compliance with generally 
applicable rules that  are not relevant to the Stipulation, depending on the 
specific job function of the employees trained. 

The Compliance Officer will be responsible for the following: 

. Compiling a hst of all Gas-related Employees, ensuring that  they are 
entered into the LMS and assigned the training requirement described 
in this Section. 

. Ensuring that  the LMS will track the annual requirement for this 
training and notifying all Gas-related Employees of the t ime and place 
for Standards of Conduct training, with the first training beginning 
within three months of the Commission order approving the 
Stipulation. 

. Prodding an electronic or hard-copy of the written Standards of 
Conduct training material  to each Dominion Gas-related Employee 
when training is provided, with a level of detail appropriate to the 
Employee's job function. 

2 
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. Including information in the training package describing a "Hotline" 
(see below) through which Dominion employees can anonymously report 
violations of the Standards of Conduct. 

. Ensuring that the LMS will maintain all certifications of attendance 
and materials used in the Standards of Conduct training until the next 
Standards of Conduct audit by the Commission. 

. No later than the end of each year, comparing the certifications of 
attendance to the list of Gas-related Employees to determine whether 
each Gas-related Employee participated in the Standards of Conduct 
training. 

. Notifying Dominion's LMS group of any person who did not participate 
in the Standards of Conduct training so that the training for the 
individual can be rescheduled. 

. 

. 

Receiving from Dominion's Human Resources department information 
that a transmission employee has transferred between DTI, on the one 
hand, and any Marketing or Energy ~ate, on the other within two 
Business Days of the transfer. The Compliance Officer must then 
notify apprepriate personnel in the transferred employee's former 
function that e-mail lists, other mailing lists and shared computer 
access codes specific to the transferring employee must be changed as 
appropriate to reflect the transfer. 

Maintaining Dominion's policy on disciplinary measures for employees 
to reflect that  violations of the Standards of Conduct, or any practice or 
procedure adopted as part of the Stipulation and Consent Agreement, 
will be subject to disciplinary actions up to, and including termination, 
because Dominion will not tolerate violations. 

10. Ensuring retention of documents, for a period of three years, that  
pertain to audits, employee complaints, employee training, employee 
non-cempliance with this plan, disciplinary actions relating to 
Standards of Conduct violations, and all other requirements of this 
Appendix B. 

Dominion may combine the Standards of Conduct training with other types of 
employee training and may provide training and training materials via e- 
mail or the Intranet  with a process to certify participation by persons who 
must receive training. 

\ \ x ~ C  " 6 ~ 0 3 . q 0 4 4  " 1 ~ 1 2 1 V ' /  
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HI. Hotline_ 

Dominion has a designated "Hotline" telephone number so infractions of the 
Standards of Conduct can be reported anonymously to the Compliance 
Officer. Dominion may combine this Hotline with its other anonymous, 
internal hotlines, if applicable. Within 30 days after the end of each calendar 
quarter, the Compliance Officer will provide a report to OMOI, describing the 
content and resolution of any calls to the Hotline that quarter that raise 
issues relating to the Standards of Conduct. 

IV. Di~Wibuti0n of or Acc¢~ t9 Confidential Report~ 

A. DTI shall implement the following procedures or actions intended to ensure 
that confidential, non-public information concerning DTrs transportation 
system (including information about available transportation capacity, 
storage capacity and inventory levels, pricing of capacity, curtailments, 
balancing services, maintenance activity, expansion plans and similar 
information) is not provided to employees of its Marketing ~ a t e s  and/or 
Energy Ai~liates in violation of Commission regulations. 

. Secure Transmission facilities such that DEC and Marketing and Energy 
Affiliate employees are prohibited from having access to locations and 
computer systems that contain DTrs transmission information. 

. Monitor employees that transfer out of DTI. Remove these employees 
from known distribution lists and change the employee's internal email 
address in an effort to ensure that inadvertent emails will not be 
delivered. 

. Survey all DTI employees to develop a list of reports containing 
confidential, non-public information concerning DTI's transportation 
system that are regularly circulated to multiple people. 

. Create a "Compliance" email account. All DTI employees shall be 
instructed to copy this "Compliance mailbox ~ on any email containing 
distributed, confidential, non-public transmission information. The 
collective group of recipients shall be regularly reviewed to confirm the 
identity and lawful ability to receive the relevant information. 

. For any reports containing confidential, non-public information 
concerning DTI's transportation system that are distributed in hard copy, 
the Compliance Off]car shall be provided with a copy of the distribution 
list and added to that list. The collective group of recipients shall be 
regularly reviewed to confirm the identity and lawful ability to receive the 
relevant information. 

4 
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D. 

Dominion will conduct an internal audit each year in which this Compliance 
Plan is in effect, concerning the distribution of all reports containing 
confidential, non'public information regularly circulated to multiple people. 
The first audit shall begin six months after the effective date of this 
Stipulation, and additional audits shah be begin on the first and second 
anniversaries of that  audit. Audits must be completed within 90 days after 
they begin. 

The Compliance Officer will be responsible for the following 

1. Reviewing the recipient lists for distributed reports. 

, 

3 .  

Monitoring DTI employee transfers and taking necessary actions. 

Requiring Dominion's Internal Audit Department (IA Department) to 
submit, under oath, the audit report to the Compliance Officer within 
90 days after the audit is begun. 

4. Submitting the audit to OMOI within I00 days after it is begun. 

. Reviewing Audit findings, determining which recommendations ~q_ll be 
implemented and documenting in the audit record why any 
recommendations were not implemented. 

. Requiring that  those actions resulting from 4, above be initiated and, i f  
possible, completed within 30 days after submission of the audit 
report. 

. Requiring that  all working papers and audit records be maintained 
until the next Standards of Conduct audit by the Commission. 

Dominion does not condone or tolerate violations of the Standards of Conduct. 
Employees who fail to comply with these rules, or any procedures or policies 
adopted as part  of the Stipulation and Consent Agreement, will be subject to 
disciplinary actions up to, and including, termination. 

5 
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APPENDIX C 

Section 284.13(e) of the Commission's regulations, 18 CFR § 284.13(e) 
(2003) requires interstate pipelines, within 30 days of the end of each complete 
storage injection and withdrawal season, to file with the Commission a report of 
storage activity. The report must be signed under oath by a senior official, consist of 
an original and five conformed copies, and contain a summary of storage injection 
and withdrawal activities 

As part of this Stipulation, DTI commits to comply fully and promptly with 
this semi-annual storage report requirement. DTI's Director of Transmission 
Services shall have ultimate responsibility for ensuring compliance with this 
requirement. The Manager of Gas Transportation Services, shall designate a 
transportation analyst to compile the report. The designated transportation analyst 
shall contact personnel in DTI's system optimization group within seven bnsinese 
days of the end of each complete storage injection and withdrawal season seeking 
the required data. Working with system optimization, the transportation analyst 
shall compile the required report for the review of the Manager of Gas 
Transportation Services within twenty days of the end of each season. The 
Manager of Gas Transportation Services and the Director of Transmission Services 
shall ensure that the report is filed as required by the regulations and this 
Stipulation. 
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Stipulation and Consent Agreement 
To Be Submitted To 

The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 

. 

The Enforcement Division of the Office of Market Oversight and Investigations 
(Enforcement); and Northern Illinois Gas Company (which does business as Nicor Gas) 
(hereafter Nicor) enter into this Stipulation and Consent Agreement (Agreement). This 
Agreement resolves all claims the Commission has or may have against Nicor relating 
only to the facts recited in Section II of the Agreement that arise from a non-public 
investigation (investigation) that Enforcement conducted pursuant to Part lb of the 
Commission's regulations, 18 C.F.R. Part lb (2003). 

II. 

Enforcement and Nicor hereby stipulate and agree to the following: 

A. Nicor, Inc. is a holding company whose principal subsidiary is Nicor. 
Nicor is a local distribution company (LDC) that distributes natural gas to more than two 
million residential, commercial and induslrial customers in Illinois. Nicor sells at 
wholesale a portion of the approximately 250 Bcf of natural gas that it purchases each 
year. Nicor executes these wholesale transactions pursuant to an operating statement that 
the company has on file with the Commission pursuant to sections 284.123(e) and 
284.224 of the Commission's regulations. The operating statement describes how Nicor 
provides interstate firm and interrupfible |ransportation and storage services, and 
interstate parking and lending services, which it collectively refers to as hub services, 
among other interstate transportation services. Nicor operates seven natural gas storage 
facilities that have an aggregate working capacity of approximately 150 Bcf and an 
aggregate maximum daily delivvrability of approximately 2.6 Bcf. Nicor Enerchange, an 
agent of Nicor, is a natural gas marketer, engaged primarily in the wholesale Wading 
business. The wholesale trading activities ofNicor Enerchange occur in Wisconsin, 
Illinois and Indiana, and in production areas of the United States. Nicor Enerchange's 
trading activities averaged approximately 95,000 MMBtu/d in 2001, 175,000 MMBtu/d 
in 2002 and 300,000 MMBtu/d in 2003. 

B. Hub Administration, a business unit ofNicor Enerchange, administors the 
storage and U'amportation services, including parking and lending services, that Nicor 
provides through its Chicago Hub pursuant to Nicor's operating statement and a state- 
approved rate schedule. 

1. Storage traders in Hub Administration sell parking and lending 
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services on Nicor's system. The Hub Administration Storage Trader (referred to in 
section II.D below) provided the following information in this paragraph to Enforcement: 
Parking and lending services permit buyers, among other things, to hedge risk associated 
with purchasing gas in future months. For example, a buyer could purchase gas for 
delivery in the prompt month, e.g., September, store that gas in Chicago Hub, and 
withdraw that gas during a future month, e.g., December. If the current spread in 
commodity price between September and December exceeds the cost of storage, a buyer 
might advantageously purchase storage capacity from Hub Administration. Conversely, 
a customer could borrow gas from Hub Administration, and agree to re.deliver a like 
amount of gas to Hub Administration in a subsequent month. In this example, a 
wholesale marketer could borrow gas from Hub Administration when prices may be high 
relative to prices in a future month, e.g., March, and subsequently return that gas when 
prices are expected to be lower, e.g., June. If the current spread in commodity price 
between March and June exceeds the transaction cost, a customer might advantageously 
borrow gas from Hub Administration. The primary indicia that determine whether these 
storage services are advantageous to a customer are the NYMEX gas futures conlract 
price, the basis component of the price, i.e., the spread in price between the relevant 
months, and the storage or transaction cost. Storage traders have substantial discretion 
with respect to the pricing of Hub Administration parking and lending services. 

2. Storage traders also sell transportation services. These 
transportation services generally involved Hub Administration taking receipt of natural 
gas from an interstate pipeline and delivering it to another interstate pipeline. Eight 
interstate pipelines have interconnects with Nicor's storage facilities: Alliance Pipeline, 
L.P.; ANR Pipeline Company;, Horizon Pipeline Company, L.L.C.; Midwestem Gas 
Transmission Company;, Natural Gas Pipe Line Company of America; Northern Border 
Pipeline Company; Northern Natural Gas Company;, and Panhandle Eastern Pipe Line 
Company. Hub Administration provides transportation services by physical delivery and 
by displacement. 

C. Every Thursday at 10:30 a.m. Eastern Time, the United States Department 
of Energy's Energy Information Administration (EIA) releases its Weekly Natural Gas 
Storage report, which tracks natural gas inventories in underground storage facilities in 
the United States. The weekly inventory levels are estimates of the aggregate volumes of 
working gas as of the week ending the Friday immediately preced'mg the Thursday 
release of the report. Changes in reported inventory levels reflect all events affecting 
working gas in storage, including injections, withdrawals, and reclassifications between 
base and working gas. EIA's Thursday release of its storage inventory report has an 
immediate impact on the price of NYMEX futures gas contracts as indicated bythe shift 
in price that is usually observed immediately following EIA's 10:30 a.n~ release of its 
report on Thursdays. The release of the EIA report also affects other natural gas 
commodity price, transportation, transactional, market and trading behavior because of 

" ~ D C  ° I ~  ° I t ~ g ~ l  v l  
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the important role the EIA report plays in the assessment of commodity inventories. 
EIA's weekly storage inventory report is a fimdamental factor in Hub Administration's 
sale of storage services because movements in commodity and futures contract 
prices impact the spread value of natural gas and hence the market value of Hub 
Administration's storage. Nicor Enerchange prepares weekly forecasts of the weekly 
EIA storage inventory report, among other reasons, to help storage traders determine 
whether there will be demand for Hub Administration services and, if so, what discounts 
the market may demand. 

D. Beginning in the late summer of 2002, and ending in August 2003 (the 
relevant time period), a Hub Administration Storage Trader provided Nicor's weekly net 
injections into storage or withdrawals from storage on a regular basis to a natural gas 
trader (Dominion Gas Trader) employed by a customer of Hub Administration, Virginia 
Power Energy Marketing, a division of Dominion Energy Clearinghouse, which in turn is 
owned by Dominion Resources, Inc. (Dominion). The Hub Adminismttion Storage 
Trader typically comraunicated the amount of gas injected or withdrawn on Nicor's 
system in the previous week, in Bcf, before the Thursday release by EIA of its weekly 
storage report. The number that the Hub Administration Storage Trader communicated 
to the Dominion Gas Trader was the same number that Nicor communicated weekly to 
the EIA on the EIA's Form 912. Dominion is one ofNicor Enerchange's largest 
customers. By providing Nicor's weekly non-public storage inventory information to the 
Dominion Gas Trader, Nicor provided the Dominion Gas Trader an advantage with 
respect to the ability of the Dominion Gas Trader to schedule services on Nicor's system 
and to price and time the potential purchase of storage and transportation services from 
Nicor. 

E. During the relevant time period, no other agent or employee of Nicor 
provided Nicor's net injection and withdrawal storage information to any other customer 
of Nicor, even though, according to the Hub Administration Storage Trader, at least one 
customer requested it. Nicor conducted its own internal investigation and disputes that 
any customer who requested the storage information was denied it. 

F. During the relevant time period, the Dominion Gas Trader regularly 
provided the Hub Administration Storage Trader the weekly net injections into storage or 
withdrawals from storage, i.e., the weekly non-public storage inventory number, of 
Dominion Transmission, Inc. (DTI). Also during this time p~od, the Dominion Gas 
Trader .occasionally provided the Hub Administration Storage Trader the daily non-public 
storage inventory number of Columbia Gas Transmission Corporation. (Columbia). 

G. The Hub Administration Storage Trader did not communicate the DTI or 
Columbia storage information to anyone outside Nicor. He communicated this 
information to other storage traders in Hub Administration. 
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H. Nicor's corporate policies prohibit the disclosure of confidential 
information to parties outside Nicor, although no specific policy stated that Nicor's 
storage inventory information was confidential. Nicor's weekly net injections into 
storage or withdrawals from storage should have been covered by Nicor's confidentiality 
policy. 

I. In 2003, Nicor realized $6,697,903 in revenue from FERC jurisdictional 
transactions. Of this amount, $2,190,863 is attributable to the sales activities of the Hub 
Administration Storage Trader. There is no evidence that Nicor profited either directly or 
indirectly by providing its storage information to the Dominion Gas Trader or by 
receiving the Dominion storage information. 

J. Over the course of the last several months, Nicor has been cooperative with 
Enforcement's efforts to complete its investigation and resolve this matter in an 
expeditious manner. 

HI. 

Nicor admits that by providing its weekly non-public storage inventory 
information to a major customer on a regular basis for an extended period of time it 
provided an undue preference in violation of sections 284.9(b) and 284.7(bX1) of the 
Commission's regulations, 18 C.F.R. §§ 284.9(b) and 284.7(b)(I) (2003). 

IV. 

A. Within thirty days after the date that the Commission approves the 
Agreement without modification, and that approval becomes final, Nicor shall pay to the 
United States Treasury a civil penalty in the sum of $600,000 by wire transfer or by 
deh'vering a certified check made payable to Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, 
Lockbox 93938, Chicago, Illinois 60673. Nioor represents that the payment of this civil 
penalty and the conduct that is the subject of this Agreement will in no way impact the 
rates of, or services rendered to, Nicor's customers. 

B. Nicor shall comply with the prospective measures designed to deter future 
similar violations that are set forth in Appendix A. 

C. Within six months after the date that the Commission approves the 
Agreement without modification, and that approval becomes final, Nicor shall file with 
the Commission in the docket in which the Commission approves the Agreement, a 
report that states in detail the steps Nicor has taken to implement the prospective 
measures set forth in Appendix A. The Commission staffreserves its right to audit and 
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investigate Nicor's compliance with the prospective measures set forth in Appendix A, 
including the matter of disclosure by employees of Nicor's storage inventory information. 

V. 

A. Enforcement agrees that the Agreement is a full and complete settlement of 
all administrative or civil claims the Commission has or may have against Nicer, Inc., its 
subsidiaries and affiliates, or any of their officers, directors or employees, either before 
the Commission or in the courts, relating only to the facts recited in Section 1I of the 
Agreement. 

B. Enforcement and Nicer agree that they enter into the Agreement voluntarily 
and ~ other than the recitations set forth herein, no tender, offer or promise of any kind 
by any member, employee, officer, director, agent or representative of Enforcement or 
Nicer has been made to induce any other party to enter into the Agreement. 

C. If the Commission does not issue an order which becomes final approving 
the Agreement, without modification, the Agreement shall be null and void, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by Enforcement and Nicer. 

D. The undersigned representative of Nicer affirms that he or she has read the 
Agreement, that all of the matters set forth in the Agreement are true and correct to the 
best of his or her knowledge, information and belief, and that he or she undenmmds that 
the Agreement is entered into by Enforcement in express reliance on those 
representations. 

E. The Agreement binds Nicor and its agents, successors and assigns. 

F. In connection with the payment of the civil penalty provided for in section 
IV.A, Nicor agrees that the Commission's order approving the Agreement without 
modification shall be a final and unappealable order assessing a civil penalty under 
section 504 of the Natural Gas Policy Act ('NGPA), 15 U.S.C. § 3414 (2000). With 
regard to such civil penalty, Nicor waives: a Notice of Propused Penalty under section 
504(bX6)(E ) of the NGPA, 15 U.S.C~,. § 3414(bX6)(E); hearings pursuant to the 
applicable provisions of the NGPA; the filing of proposed findings of fact and 
conclusions of law; an Initial Decision by an Administrative Law judge pursuant to the 
Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure; post-hearing procedures pursuant to the 
Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure; and judicial review by any courL 

G. Nicer waives judicial review by any court of any Commission order 
approving the Agreement without modification. 

q I I /DC * I ~ J ~ . . q M I 6  * 1 1 1 ~ 1 ~  v ! 
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H. Each of the undersigned warrants that he or she is an authorized 
representative of the entity designated, is authorized to bind such entity, and accepts the 
Agreement on the entity's behalf. 

I. Appendix A, referenced in section IV.B ofthe Agreement and attached 
hereto, is expressly made part of, and incorporated in, the Agreement. 

Agreed to and accepted: 

Robert E. Pease, 
Direc?~fif~rcement Division 

Paul C 1. Graedy 
Vice President, General Counsel 

and Secretary 
Northern Illinois Gas Company 

July 1 2004 
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APPENDIX A 

COMPLIANCE PLAN FOR NICOR GAS 

This Compliance Plan responds to specific issues and recommendations 
arising from a non-public investigation conducted by the Division of Enforcement, 
Office of Market Oversight and Investigations (OMOI). 

Northern Illinois Gas Company (d/b/a Nicer Gas) (hereinafter referred to as 
"Nicer") will implement the following policies and procedures to resolve issues that 
have arisen regarding compliance with the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission's (Commission's) applicable statutes, rules, and regulations. 

This Compliance Plan applies to Nicer and to any successor companies owned 
or controlled by Nicer and will remain in effect for two years following the Effective 
Date of the Stipulation and Consent Agreement m Docket Nos. IN04-02-000. 
(Agreement). This Compliance Plan is a part of the Commission's Order approving 
the Agreement. 

Nicer may request that the Commission modify this Compliance Plan during 
its two-year term. Nothing in this Compliance Plan relieves Nicer from complying 
with the Commission's rules and regulations currently in effect and as they may be 
amended. 

I. Chief Compliance Ot~Scer 

II. 

Nicer will designate an individual whose title will be "Chief Compliance 
Officer" (Compliance Officer) and who will report to Nicor's General Counsel. 
This Comphance Officer and his or her staff, as appropriate, will be the 
contact for Commission staff for Nicor's FERC compliance issues and will be 
responsible for implementing this Compliance Plan. 

Traini  

Outside counsel for Nicer will conduct an annual, onsite training session to 
provide guidance on compliance with FERC rules, regulations, and policies to 
all Nicer employees involved in selling, marketing, trading, or providing 
interstate transportation or storage services subject to the Commission's 
jurisdiction. Employee attendance at the training sessions will be mandatory. 
The training sessions will focus on compliance with FERC's undue 
discrimination requirements, but will also focus on Nicor's obligations and 
responsibilities as a holder of a blanket Part 284.224 limited jurisdiction 
certificate. 
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I~. Maintainine Confidenti~ty of Nicor Storaee Inventory Ingorm~on 

Nicor will modify its corporate policies to specifically prohibit the disclosure 
of Nicor's storage inventory reformation to parties outside of Nicor. All 
employees will be notified of this change and the modification will be 
emphasized in the training sessions referenced in Section II, above. 

IV. Disciplinexy Measu~ 

Nicor does not condone or tolerate violations of the Commission's regulations. 
Employees who fail to comply with FERCs rules, or any procedures or 
policies adopted as part of the Stipulation and Consent Agreement, will be 
subject to disciplinary actions up to, and including, termination. 

2 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
BEFORE THE 

FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION 

Columbia Gas Transmission Corp. Docket No. IN04-2-000 

STIPULATION AND CONSENT AGREEMENT 

1. INTRODUCTION 

The Enforcement Division of the Office of Market Oversight and Investigations 

(Enforcement) and Columbia Gas Transmission Corporation (Columbia) enter into this 

Stipulation and Consent Agreement (Agreement) to resolve all issues that are specifically 

addressed herein and all issues arising fi'om all facts regarding Columbia provided to date to 

Enforcement in a non-public, formal investigation (investigation) that Enforcement conducted in 

Docket No. IN04-2-000, pursuant to Part lb of the Commission's regulations, 18 C.F.IL Part lb 

(2003). 

11. STIPULATION 

Enforcement and Columbia hereby stipulate and agree to the following: 

A. Columbia, a Delaware corporation, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Columbia 

Energy Group, which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of NiSource, Inc. Columbia is a large 

natural gas pipeline company that operates an extensive reticulated pipeline system that includes 

12,750 miles of pipeFme and 90 compressor stations. Columbia delivers an average of 3 Bcf per 

day of natural gas, with peak day deliverability of 8.5 Bcf: to 72 local distribution companies in 

11 states. Columbia also owns and operates 39 underground storage fields in New York, Ohio, 

Pennsylvania and West Virginia that provide 246 Bcfofworking capacity. Columbia operates 

approximately 7.5 percent of total working gas storage capacity in the United States. Storage 

contributes approximately 52 percent of Columbia's peak day deliverability. 
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B. Every Thursday at 10:30 a.m. Eastem Time, the United States Department of 

Energy's Energy Information Agency (EIA) releases its Weekly Natural Gas Storage Report. 

The report sets forth the aggregate volumes of working natural gas inventories in underground 

storage facilities in the United States on an aggregate geographic basis as of the Friday 

immediately preceding the Thursday release of the report. According to ELA's Internet web site, 

changes in reported inventory levels reflect all events affecting working gas in storage, including 

injections, withdrawals and reclassifications between base and working gas. 

C. Columbia does not actively trade NYMEX natural gas futures contracts and does 

not actively buy and sell natural gas on behalf of customers. 

D. Columbia does not post on its Internet web site the information it provides to EIA 

concerning storage inventory information. Columbia does not post information concerning 

injection or withdrawal activity because of the no-notice nature of its firm storage service. 

Columbia provides its firm storage service on a no-notice basis, and Columbia's firm storage 

customers are not required to nominate in advance storage injections or withdrawals. Customers 

nominate flowing supply into the systom and Columbia confirms receipts and deliveries to the 

customer. At the end of the gas day, any difference between actual receipts and actual deliveries 

is deemed either a storage injection or withdrawal. Columbia posts its total storage design 

capacity. Columbia's total working gas capacity can be inferred by adding the aggregate 

capacity contracted to all customers, as reflected on the posted Index of Customers, to any 

unsubscn'bed capacity that is posted. 

El Columbia employs customer service representatives who respond to questions 

regarding, among other things, how to nominate on Columbia's Interact web site, the status of 

customer nominations, whether and how customers can nominate capacity to alternate points, 

W,,J]C. ~J i "/3.1~01.19$1IOgG 
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Columbia Gas Transmission Corporation 

billing matters relating to rates, volumes and charges, pipeline restrictions, pipeline construction, 

penalties, cu.~omer-specific storage accounts and storage ratchets. Columbia's customer service 

representatives also aggregate nominations at points that Columbia confirms with 

interconnecting pipelines, allocate the capacity and confirm with customers those allocations. 

Columbia has five lead customer service representatives who, in addition to undertaking the 

duties described in this paragraph, supervise three or four customer service representatives each, 

answer questions that these subordinate representatives refer to them, and perform occasional 

special assignments. 

F. One lead customer service representative (Columbia Lead Customer Rep) 

provided Columbia's daily injection and withdrawal activity, expressed as a change from the 

previous day's inventory level (Columbia's non-public storage inventory information), to the 

following individuals: (1) the Director of Natural Gas Trading, Alliance for Cooperative Energy 

Services Power Marketing LLC, also known as ACES Power Marketing (APM); (2) the 

President of Interstate Gas Supply, Inc. (IGS); and (3) the Director, Asset Management and 

Marketing, who later became Director, Marketing, at Sequent Energy Management (Sequent) 

(collectively, Recipients). The Columbia Lead Customer Rep began providing Columbia's non- 

public storage inventory information to the Director of Natoral Gas Trading for AIM prior to 

2001, including time when he was not employed by APM, to the President of IGS beginning in 

2001 and to the Director at Sequent beginning in 2001 or 2002. The Columbia Lead Customer 

Rep stopped providing Columbia's non-public storage inventory information to the Recipients 

on or about October 26, 2003. Columbia's non-public storage inventory information that the 

Columbia Lead Customer Rep provided to the Recipients was not available to the public at the 

time she provided it. Based on the testimony of the Columbia Lead Customer Service Rep, she 
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obtained Columbia's non-public storage inventory information through her desktop computer. 

She had a right to access this information as a customer service representative. She also obtained 

this information at Columbia's daily morning operations meetings. An additional Columbia 

customer service representative occasionally provided Columbia's non-public storage inventory 

information to two of the Recipients. In 2003, Columbia collected revenue of $1,032,664 either 

from APM or pertaining to transactions in which APM acted as agent for another shipper, 

$30,246,351 either from IGS or pertaining to transactions in which IGS acted as agent for 

another shipper, and $16,067,192 either from Sequent or pertaining to transactions in which 

Sequent acted as agent for another shipper. 

G. Based on the testimony of the Columbia Lead Customer Rep and e-mails 

Enforcement reviewed, the Columbia Lead Customer Rep (1) communicated Columbia's non- 

public storage inventory information primarily by telephone to the Recipients until June 2002 

and thereafter primarily by e-mail, (2) communicated Columbia's non-public storage inventory 

information for every day from June 1, 2002 through October 26, 2003, and (3) usually provided 

this information for the previous week prior to EIA's Thursday 10:30 a.m. release of its weekly 

report and prior to the Wednesday afleznoon release by the America Gas Association (AGA) of 

its weekly storage report during the time prior to June 2002 when the AGA released a similar 

report. However, the activities recounted in this paragraph did not always occur due to the 

Columbia Lead Ctu~mer Rep's abumces fiom her workplace or other reasons. Based on 

Enforcement's review of e-mails that the Columbia Lead Customer Rep sent to the Recipients, in 

the first tom months of 2003, the Columbia Lead Customer Rep sent 33 e-mails to the Recipients 

containing Columbia's non-public storage inventory information. 

H. Columbia has a written policy against providing customers non-public 



Jnofflclal FERC-Generated PDF of 20040802-0108 Issued by FERC OSEC 08/02/2004 in Docket#: IN04-2-000 

Stipulat ion and Consent  A g r e e m e n t  - 5 - 
C o l u m b i a  Gas  Transmiss ion  Corporat ion  

information. No manager or other person in authority at Columbia ever approved the disclosures 

or told the Columbia Lead Customer Service Rep that she could provide the non-public storage 

inventory information, nor did any manager or person in authority tell her that she could not 

provide the information. The Columbia Lead Customer Rep did not receive an emolument from 

Columbia or, to the best o f  Columbia's knowledge, from anyone because of  her communication 

o f  Columbia's non-public storage inventory information to the Recipients. Columbia did not 

profit or realize any gain, directly or indirectly, from the Columbia Lead Customer Rep's 

communication of  Columbia's non-public storage inventory information to the Recipients. , 

I. Based on a review of  voice recordings between the Columbia Lead Customer Rep 

and Recipients, the Columbia Lead Customer Rep knew or should have known that the 

Recipients would be in a position to use the non-public storage inventory information she was 

providing them to help them better understand operational activity on Columbia's system or 

price-related commodity activity. 

J. Inaccuracies in data responses attested to by the Columbia Lead Customer Rep 

hindered Enforcement's investigation nfColumbia's activities. In recent months, Columbia has 

cooperated with Enforc, ement's efforts to resolve this matter in an expeditious manner. 

HI. COLUMBIA'S POSITION 

With respect to the facts recited in Section II o f  the Agreement and all issues arising Rom 

all facts regarding Columbia provided to Enforcement to date in the investigation, Columbia 

neither admits nor denies that it violated any provision of  the Natural Gas Act, 15 U.S.C. § 717 

et  seq. (2000), the Natural Gas Policy Act of  1978, 15 U.S.C. § 3301 et  al. (2000), or any 

provisions of the Commission's regulations. 
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IV. PENALTIES AND REMEDIES 

For the purpose of settling any and all civil and administrative disputes, and in lieu of any 

other penalty or remedy that the Commission might assess or determine concerning any of the 

facts recited in Section ll of the Agreement or all issues arising from any of the facts regarding 

Columbia provided to date to Enforcement in the investigation, Columbia agrees as follows: 

A. Within thirty days aRer the date that the Commission order approving the 

Agreement, without modification, becomes final and non-appealable, Columbia shall pay to the 

United States Treasury a civil penalty in the sum of $2,500,000 by wire transfer or by delivering 

a certified check made payable to Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, Lockbox 93938, 

Chicago, Illinois 60673. 

B. Within thirty days after the date that the Commission order approving the 

Agreement, without modification, becomes final and non-apl~alable, Columbia shall post each 

Monday, unless Monday is a holiday, in which case Columbia shall post the following day, on its 

Intemet web site, no later than 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time, the net aggregate storage inventory 

information that it provides to EIA on that day. 

C. Within thirty days after the date that the Commission order approving the 

Agreement, without modification, becomes final and non-appealable, Columbia shall commence 

automatically recording, and continuously record for a period of one year, all telephone 

conversations between and among Columbia's customer service representatives, Columbia's lead 

customer service representatives, and the managers of Columbia's customer service 

representatives; and Columbia's customers. Columbia shall maintain all recordings created 

pursuant to this paragraph for a period of two yeats from the date when recording commences, 

after which time period Columbia may destroy the recordings. Prior to the allowed time of their 

.22t72/QaOt. | g ~  
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destruction, Columbia shall make these recordings available to the Commission or its staff upon 

request. Enforcement's intent is not to access the recordings in whole or part without a specific 

Enforcement purpose. 

V. TERMS 

A. Enforcement agrees that the Agreement is a full and complete settlement of  all 

administrative or civil claims the Commission has or may have against Columbia, its subsidiaries 

and affiliates, or any of  their officers, directors or employees, either before the Commission or in 

the courts, relating to the facts recited in Section II o f  the Agreement and MI issues arising from 

all the facts regarding Columbia provided to date to Enforcement in the investigation. 

B. Enforcement and Columbia agree that they enter into the Agreement voluntarily 

and that, other than the recitations set forth herein, no tender, offer or promise of  any kind by any 

member, employee, officer, dizector, agent or representative of  Enforcement or Columbia has 

been made to induce any other party to enter into the AgreemenL 

C. Unless the Commission issues an order approving the Agreement, without 

modification, the Agreement shall be null and void unless Enforcement and Columbia otherwise 

agree in writing. 

D. As o f  the date the Commission issues an order approving the Agreement, without 

modification, the Agreement shall resolve as to Columbia, its agents, officers, directors and 

employees, both past and prese t ,  and the Commission shall release and be forever barred from 

bringing against Columbia, its agents, officers, directors or employees, both past and present, any 

and all administrative or civil claims or matters asserting any and all claims, liabilities, causes of  

action, demands, rights, alleged entitlements, obligations, known or tmknown, asserted or not 

asserted, vested or unvestod, without limitation, arising out of, related to, or connected with the 

~ C ~  . 2217~dOOO I - g 93.110~ .,6 
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facts set forth in the Agreement and all issues arising from all facts regarding Columbia provided 

to date to Enforcement in the investigation. 

E. Upon issuance of a Commission order approving the Agreement, without 

modificaEon, all tolling agreements shall terminate and record preservation requirements 

imposed by Enforcement in this matter shall terminate. 

F. With respect to the representations of the parties set forth herein, the undersigned 

representatives of Enforcement and Columbia, respectively, ropresent and warrant that they have 

read them and know the contents thereof, that all of the statements and mallvrs set forth in this 

Agreement are true and correct to the best ofthcir knowledge, information and belief, and that 

they understand that each has entered into this Agreement in express reliance on these 

representations and statements. 

G. The Agreement binds Columbia and its agents, successors and assigns. 

H. In connection with the payment of the civil penalty provided for herein, Columbia 

agrees that the Commission's order approving the Agreement without modification shall be a 

final and non-appealable order assessing a civil penalty under section 504 of the Natural Gas 

Policy Act (NGPA), 15 U.S.C. § 3414 (2000). With regard to such civil penalty, Columbia 

waives: a Notice of Proposed Penalty under section 504(bX6)(E) of the NGPA, 15 U.S.C. § 

- 341#~bX6)(E); hearings pursuant to the appficable provisions of the NGPA; the filing of 

proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law; an Initial Decision by an ~ e  Law 

Judge pursuant to the Commission's Rules of Practico and Procedure; post-hearing procedures 

pursuant to the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure; and judicial review by any court. 

L Columbia waives judicial review by any court of any Commission order 

approving the Agreement, without modification. 
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J. Each of  the undersigned warrants that he or she is an authorized representative of  

the entity designated, is authorized to bind such entity, and accepts the Agreement on the cntity's 

behalf. 

K. The Agreement may be exccuted in counterparts, each of which so executed shall 

be dccmcd to bc an original, and such counterparts shall together constitute one document. 

Agreed to and accepted: 

Deputy Director, Investigations and Enforccmcut 
Date 

7-/3-o  
Date 


